FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 6/23/2022 9:32 AM FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. <u>101050-8</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LISA LAVINGTON,

Respondent/Appellant

v.

JAMES T. HILLIER and WANDA L. HILLIER. *Petitioners/Appellees*.

Appeal from the Court of Appeals, Division II of the State of Washington
Court of Appeals Case No. 54541-1-II

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James P. Mullins, WSBA NO. 52804 DAVIS ROTHWELL EARLE & XÓCHIHUA, PC 701 5th Ave., Suite 5500 Seattle, Washington 98104

Telephone: (206) 622-2295 Facsimile: (503) 222-4488 Attorney for Petitioners

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW 5
A.	The Opinion is contrary to Supreme Court precedent 7
В.	The Opinion conflicts with published opinions of the Court
of A	Appeals12
C.	The Opinion implicates substantial public interests
VI.	CONCLUSION17

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Borland v. Sanders Lead Co., 369 So.2d 523, 529 (Ala. 1979)
Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Refining Co., 104 Wn.2d 677, 709
P.2d 782 (1985)passim
Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036
(1997)5
Crystal Lotus Enterprises Ltd. v. City of Shoreline, 167 Wn. App
501, 274 P.3d 1054 (2012)16, 17
Davis v. Westphal, 389 Mont. 251, 405 P.3d 73 (2017) 14
Grundy v. Brack Family Trust, 151 Wn. App. 557, 213 P.3d 619
(2009)
Guay v. Washington Natural Gas Co., Wn.2d 473, 383 P.2d 296
(1963)
Ofusia v. Smurr, 198 Wn. App. 133, 392 P.3d 1148 (2017) 17
Wallace v. Lewis County, 134 Wn. App. 1, 137 P.3d 101 (2006)

Rules

RAP 13.4					6	
Other Authorities						
RESTATEMENT	(SECOND) OF	TORTS §	12A		21	
RESTATEMENT	(SECOND) OF	TORTS §	158		12	
RESTATEMENT	(SECOND) OF	TORTS §	163		12	
RESTATEMENT	(SECOND) OF	TORTS §	821D		13	

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are James T. Hillier and Wanda L. Hillier, and the marital community thereof.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision is published at *Lavington* v. *James T. Hillier, et al.*, ____ Wn App ____, 510 P.3d 373 (2022). A true and correct copy of the majority opinion is provided as Appendix A, is referred to herein as "the Opinion," and cited as "Op." The dissenting opinion is included in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Whether a plaintiff must show actual and substantial damages to the subject real property in order to have a viable claim for trespass.
- 2) Whether involuntary dismissal of a trespass claim is appropriate when insufficient evidence supports a finding of actual and substantial physical damage to the real property.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners James T. Hillier and Wanda L. Hillier ask this Court to confirm longstanding Washington law as to the damages element required to prove a trespass claim. Petitioners believe that a trespass plaintiff must show "actual and substantial damage to property" as a necessary element to their claim, and that a plaintiff's ability to collect any other damages is predicated upon plaintiff's first showing "actual and substantial damages" to the subject real property.

This dispute arises from use of a driveway spanning neighboring properties in Mason County. Lisa Lavington filed suit alleging that Petitioners and their contractor, Ray Parsons, trespassed on Lavington's property during a construction project on the Hillier property. Lavington and James Hillier are cousins, and at trial, Lavington testified that a "family accommodation" existed for use of the driveway for the benefit of the Hillier property. Prior to the commencement of the construction project, James Hillier asked Lavington to formally record an easement on

her property. Lavington declined. When the Hilliers began their project, they directed Parsons to use the driveway as needed.

Amidst the construction, Lavington witnessed a single instance of construction traffic traveling over the driveway when entering the Hillier property. She asked Parsons' foreman to discontinue use and he did. Lavington sued the Hilliers and Parsons for trespass.¹

Lavington claimed to have suffered three types of damages from the alleged trespass. First, she claimed property damage. However, the vast majority of the claimed property damage occurred on state-owned property within 30 feet of the centerline of SR 106. Consequently, the trial court granted the Hilliers' motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of trespass on land that Lavington did not own within the right-of-way. As a result,

¹ Lavington's operative complaint at the time of trial alleged other claims that are not at issue in this petition for review.

at trial, Lavington testified to a single broken tree branch as well as a grading and graveling of the driveway.

Second, Lavington claimed imputed rent for the use of the driveway. Parsons successfully moved to limit the measure of Lavington's damages to the lesser of restoration costs or the diminution in value.

Third, Lavington claimed emotional damages. Lavington ignored an order compelling production of records relevant to her emotional distress claims. Consequently, the trial court precluded Lavington from presenting evidence of emotional distress as a sanction.

At the close of Lavington's case in chief, all Defendants moved for involuntary dismissal under CR 41(b)(3). The Hilliers argued that under *Grundy v. Brack Family Trust*, 151 Wn. App. 557, 213 P.3d 619 (2009), Lavington had not proven a trespass claim because she had not proven "actual and substantial" damage to her property. The trial court agreed and involuntarily dismissed Lavington's trespass claim. Lavington appealed.

A divided Division II panel reversed the trial court's dismissal of Lavington's trespass claim against the Hilliers. Specifically, the majority held that the trial court erred in precluding Lavington's presentation of her emotional damages without findings required by Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), and that the error was not harmless. The majority further held that in addition to emotional damages and property damage, trespass plaintiffs are entitled to damages for loss of exclusive use of their property, notwithstanding any other type of damages, provided those damages are "actual and substantial." Op. at 17. The majority reversed and remanded in a published opinion, and in doing so, dramatically expanded the scope of viable trespass claims in Washington, contrary to the precedent of this Court, other appellate decisions, and public policy. RAP 13.4

V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

This Court should accept review of this case, as the Division II majority's holding that Lavington did not need to

prove actual and substantial damage to her real property to establish her trespass claim contradicts long-standing appellate precedent and is contrary to public policy interest in precluding unnecessary litigation.

First, The Opinion contradicts Supreme Court precedent requiring a trespass plaintiff prove actual and substantial damage to the res. Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Refining Co., 104 Wn.2d 677, 709 P.2d 782 (1985). Second, the Opinion further contradicts published opinions of the Court of Appeals which have appropriately held, under Bradley, that the "actual and substantial damage" element of a trespass claim can only be satisfied by proof of damage to the subject real property. Last, notwithstanding the library of Washington authority, the Opinion implicates substantial issues of public interest requiring the intervention of this Court. The Opinion's elimination of the requirement of damage to the *res* opens the door to unnecessary, frivolous, and even simply harassing trespass litigation among residential and commercial neighbors. This Court should not rebuke its own endorsement of the axiom "[d]e minimis non curat lex." Guay v. Washington Natural Gas Co., Wn.2d 473, 478, 383 P.2d 296 (1963), but should rather confirm the property damage requirement for trespass claims and that the courts are not venues for petty squabble, but only actual, compensable damages.

A. The Opinion is contrary to Supreme Court precedent.

The Opinion contradicts or incorrectly interprets *Bradley* v. Am. Smelting & Refining Co., 104 Wn.2d 677, 691, 709 P.2d 782 (1985), which holds that trespass plaintiffs must prove actual and substantial damage to the res.

In *Bradley*, the Court addressed four certified questions from a case wherein plaintiffs brought claims of intentional trespass and nuisance against a copper smelting business that caused particulate emissions to drift onto plaintiffs' property. 104 Wn.2d at 679-80. The *Bradley* Court treated four certified questions. Ultimately, the Court "accepte[d] and approve[d]" the elements of trespass from an Alabama case, *Borland v. Sanders*

Lead Co., 369 So.2d 523, 529 (Ala. 1979). Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 691. Specifically, Bradley held that trespass liability required a plaintiff to prove all of:

- 1) an invasion affecting an interest in the exclusive possession of his property;
- 2) an intentional doing of the act which results in the invasion;
- 3) reasonable foreseeability that the act done could result in an invasion of plaintiff's possessory interest; and
- 4) substantial damages to the *res*.

Id. The acceptance and approval of the formulation of the fourth element is simply dispositive for this petition. Respectfully, the Opinion inaccurately states that *Bradley* "only referenced damage to property in the context of a continuing trespass." Op. at 14. Instead, the ratification of the *Borland* elements came in the portion of the *Bradley* opinion holding that the deposit of microscopic particulates could trigger trespass liability. 104 Wn.2d at 691. The *Bradley* Court further confirmed that the *Borland* formulation disposed of the third certified question: "Does the cause of action for trespassory invasion require proof

of actual damages?" *Id.* at 691-92. The Court confirmed, without any qualification concerning *Borland*'s reference to the *res* or technical discussion of "damage" versus "damages," that "[t]he elements that we have adopted for an action in trespass from *Borland* require that plaintiff has suffered actual and substantial damages." 104 Wn.2d at 692.

Later, the *Bradley* Court confirmed the *property*-specific aspect of the fourth element: "Assuming that a defendant has caused actual and substantial damages *to a plaintiff's property*, the trespass continues until the intruding substance is removed." 104 Wn.2d at 693 (emphasis added). While this confirmation of the holding appears in the portion of the opinion discussing "the effect of the theory of continuing trespass and the discovery rule," it is clearly not the only context in which the Court made the *Borland* formulation the law in Washington in light of the case's adoption when answering the other certified questions. *Id.* at 692-93.

The Opinion's reliance on the Restatement (Second) of *Torts* is misplaced in light of *Bradley*. The Opinion first relies on the *Bradley* Court's discussion of the Restatement in its response to the first certified question regarding the *intent* element, reciting § 158 for the general statement of liability for trespass before turning to the comment entitled "Causing entry of a thing." 104 Wn.2d at 681-82 (internal citations omitted; italics in original). Yet the Opinion incorrectly implies that this recitation of the Restatement in Bradley held as a matter of Washington law that "[o]ne is subject to liability to another for trespass, irrespective of whether he thereby causes harm to any legally protected interest of the other[.]" Op. at 12. Bradley clearly holds to the contrary, as discussed *supra*. Similarly, Restatement § 158 establishes a two-part test for trespass liability—an 1) intentional 2) invasion of the land of another and provides alternative elements for how the invasion could be accomplished. Restatement § 163, of course, presumes the twopart test set out earlier in the same document when it states a

trespasser is subject to liability even without causing damage to the land. However, commentary to that section only confirms that the construction of the elements for trespass liability in the Restatement and Washington law are incompatible. Compare RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 163, cmt. a (AM. LAW. INST. 1965) ("The intention which is required to make the actor liable under the rule state in this Section is an intention to enter upon the particular piece of land in question, irrespective of whether the actor knows or should know that he is entitled to enter." with Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 691 (requiring "reasonable foreseeability that the act done could result in an invasion of plaintiff's possessory interest). The Bradley Court's adoption of the four-part Borland formulation dramatically undermines, if not eliminates, the persuasive value of the *Restatement* insofar as it is inconsistent with Bradley and Borland.

Neither does the Opinion's properly rely on the *Bradley* Court's cursory reference to comment d of § 821D of the *Restatement*, a section concerning nuisance. The Opinion

implies that *Bradley*'s citation to the comment supports the proposition that liability in trespass is established without damage to land, but that is likewise contradictory to the substantive holding of *Bradley*. The Opinion's citation to *Davis v. Westphal*, 389 Mont. 251, 405 P.3d 73 (2017), is likewise unavailing given that opinion's reliance on the *Restatement* and not *Borland* or a similar formulation of the elements of trespass. The Opinion improperly substituted the *Restatement* for the clear requirement of damages to property for liability to exist in trespass set forth in *Bradley*.

This Court should recognize that the Opinion's attempts to harmonize the *Restatement* with *Bradley* are improper, and affirm the core holding of *Bradley* that actual and substantial damages to the *res* are required for a viable trespass claim.

B. The Opinion conflicts with published opinions of the Court of Appeals.

Next, the Opinion conflicts with other published Court of Appeals decisions that follow *Bradley* for the proposition that a

trespass claim must include proof of damage to the subject real property.

In *Grundy v. Brack Family Trust*, 151 Wn. App. 557, 560, 213 P.3d 619 (2009), *review denied*, 168 Wn.2d 1007 (2010), the parties owned neighboring properties on Puget Sound. The defendants raised their bulkhead to be higher than Grundy's and as a result, water from Puget Sound was redirected off of the Bracks' bulkhead and onto Grundy's property. *Id* at 560-61. The salt water splashed on Grundy's property, causing yellowed and dead grass and "occasional debris." The court, considering only the claims of physical property damage, determined the plaintiff had not proven actual and substantial damages. *Id.* at 568. Division II reversed plaintiff's award. *Id.* at 560.

Crystal Lotus Enterprises Ltd. v. City of Shoreline, 167 Wn. App. 501, 274 P.3d 1054 (2012), analyzed the issue of actual and substantial damages with a rubric similar to the Grundy court. In affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the defendants, Division I determined that the plaintiff

in that case had failed to meet the "actual and substantial damages" standard. Specifically, the court observed that plaintiff had "no expert testimony about diminution of property value, no government property tax assessments, [and] no photos or descriptions of physical deterioration." 167 Wn. App. at 506. See also 167 Wn. App. at 506 (citing *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d 677) (trespass requires "actual and substantial harm to that person's property"). In Wallace v. Lewis County, 134 Wn. App. 1, 15, 137 P.3d 101 (2006), Division II again cited *Bradley* for the same proposition. Similarly, in Ofusia v. Smurr, 198 Wn. App. 133, 150, 392 P.3d 1148 (2017), the court held that evidence of removal of a fence and destruction of arborvitae was sufficient to reverse an award of summary judgment and remand, but did not consider other categories of damage.

The Courts of Appeals have clearly taken this Court at its word in *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 691, that the "actual and substantial damage" required to prove a trespass concerns damage to real property.

C. The Opinion implicates substantial public interests.

The opinion implicates two substantial public interests.

The first is the evisceration of an important threshold in trespass cases. The second is the effects of the Opinion's overwrought distinction between "damages" and "damage." Op. at 13-14.

The *Bradley* Court appreciated the prudence of a judicial threshold in trespass cases and explained the same while refuting the common law definition of trespass:

While at common law any trespass entitled a landowner to recover nominal or punitive damages for the invasion of his property, such a rule is not appropriate under the circumstances before us. No useful purpose would be served by sanctioning actions in trespass by every landowner within a hundred miles of a manufacturing plant. Manufacturers would be harassed and the litigious few would cause the escalation of costs to the detriment of society.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 691-92. This same policy consideration is not exclusive to manufacturers. It takes no great imagination to envision myriad circumstances where neighbors use the

property of their neighbors without permission² and cause no damage; errant wiffle ball hitters, casual gardeners, and even responsible dog walkers should not be exposed to liability for emotional damages or damages "for loss of exclusive use." The prospect of the Opinion's enabling litigation concerning the usual, transitory, and trivial use of the property of another weighs in favor of granting this petition so that long-standing law can be affirmed. This Court should intervene to prevent innumerable trials concerning emotional and "loss of exclusive use" damages without any meaningful damage to land. While the bundle of sticks held by property owners includes the right to exclusive possession, that right should not be a sword capable of effecting monetary damages in trespass for the slightest incursion.

Second, the Opinion's distinction between "damage" and "damages" poses an unacceptable risk of confusion among trial

² Or, as in the case at bar, where there was at worst confusion over the scope of a historical "family accommodation" to use the driveway.

courts. The Opinion holds that "damages" is a term of art for "compensation a person can recover in a lawsuit for an injury or a loss," and "damage" to "some physical harm to a person or property." Op. at 13. The Opinion concedes that in light of this presumption, "the cases are somewhat confusing," Op. at 14, but this confusion is entirely of the Opinion's own making. *Bradley* and its application by the Court of Appeals has been very clear that trespass plaintiffs must show "actual and substantial" damage to *property*. Prudence dictates that a precedential opinion not assign fixed definitions to words so commonly used in the practice of law in so many contexts.³ Given the multitude of applications of the word "damages" within law, this Court should reject the hyper-technical and needlessly expansive analysis in the Opinion and rely on the well-considered and clear language of *Bradley* for the disposition of this litigation. In light

³ For example, the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 12A, indicates that "damages" "denote[s] a sum of money *awarded* to a person injured by the tort of another." (emphasis added).

of *Bradley*'s requirement of damages to the *res* in order to be liable in trespass, the Opinion's distinction between "damage" and "damages" is simply unnecessary.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Opinion conflicts with the precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals. The issues presented involve important matters relating to scope of viable trespass claims in Washington and the heretofore uncountenanced risk of a multiplicity of suits in trespass with *de minimis* property damage. The Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and affirm the trial court's dismissal of the entirety of Lavington's trespass action in light of the absence of actual and substantial physical damage to her property.

The undersigned certifies that the above brief complies with RAP 18.17.

///

///

///

DAVIS ROTHWELL EARLE & XÓCHIHUA, P.C.