FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/7/2022 4:55 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101050-8 COA No. 54541-1-II

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Lisa Lavington,

Respondent,

v.

James T. Hillier and Wanda L. Hillier,

Petitioners,

Ray Parson Construction, LLC,

Defendant.

Answer to Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter WSBA# 43124 Attorney for Respondent

Olympic Appeals PLLC 4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217 Lacey, WA 98503 360-763-8008 kevin@olympicappeals.com

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

4. Argument

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will only accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other published decisions or if it otherwise involves an issue of substantial public interest. On the issues that Hillier raises in his petition, the Court of Appeals decided correctly and in complete harmony with prior published opinions. This Court should deny Hillier's petition for review. In the event the Court grants Hillier's petition, the Court

should also accept review of the additional issues presented in this Answer.

4.1 The Court should deny Hillier's Petition for Review.

4.1.1 The Court of Appeals Opinion is consistent with the applicable prior decisions of this Court.

Hillier's petition, in focusing on *Bradley*, misses the boat. *Bradley*, by its own terms, applies only to claims of intentional trespass by particulate pollution, where the line between trespass and nuisance is blurred. Because this is not a pollution case, *Bradley* does not apply and therefore is not a source of conflict. Although the Court of Appeals discusses *Bradley* extensively, in doing so it reaches a result that is consistent with the applicable precedent of this Court: that Lavington's damages for Hillier's ordinary trespass are not limited to physical damage to land.

4.1.1.1 Bradley is not a source of conflict because it only applies to trespass by particulate pollution.

In *Bradley v. Am. Smelting and Refining Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 677, 709 P.2d 782 (1985), this Court answered a set of questions certified from the federal court for the Western District of Washington. *Id.* at 679. In certified question cases, the Court answers only the discrete question that is certified and lacks jurisdiction to go beyond the narrow question and record before it. *Ruiz-Guzman v. Amvac Chemical Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 493, 508, 7 P.3d 795 (2000); *Kitsap County v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 567, 577, 964 P.2d 1173 (1998).

The question certified in *Bradley* specifically asked whether Washington law recognized a cause of action for intentional trespass through the "deposit of microscopic particulates, undetectable by the human senses," and if so, what intent was required and did it require proof of actual damages. *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 679. Nowhere in the *Bradley* opinion did the Court

attempt to go beyond the narrow question of particulate pollution. Because of the narrow jurisdiction of the Court in answering the certified question, the *Bradley* court could not have altered Washington's law of ordinary trespass applicable to a case like this one. The *Bradley* opinion can only apply to cases of particulate pollution.

The *Bradley* court recognized that this was a limited question and framed it as such:

The issues present the conflict in an industrial society between the need of all for the production of goods and the desire of the landowner near the manufacturing plant producing those goods that his use and enjoyment of his land not be diminished by the unpleasant side effects of the manufacturing process. A reconciliation must be found between the interest of the many who are unaffected by the possible poisoning and the few who may be affected.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 681.

To answer these specific questions, the *Bradley* court began with a review of Washington's law of

ordinary trespass, set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Torts:

The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 158 (1965) states:

One is subject to liability to another for trespass, irrespective of whether he thereby causes harm to any legally protected interest of the other, if he intentionally

- (a) enters land in the possession of the other, or causes a thing or a third person to do so, or
- (b) remains on the land, or
- (c) fails to remove from the land a thing which he is under a duty to remove.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 681-82.

The *Bradley* court then turned to the conundrum of pollution: "The courts have been groping for a reconciliation of the doctrines of trespass and nuisance over a long period of time and, to a great extent, have concluded that little of substance remains to any distinction between the two when air pollution is

involved." *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 684. The court once again turned to the Restatement for a baseline discussion of ordinary trespass, noting that, unlike nuisance, in ordinary trespass, "there is liability without harm" because "an intentional invasion of the plaintiff's possession is of itself a tort, and liability follows unless the defendant can show a privilege." *Id.* at 689 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821D, comment d).

The *Bradley* court adopted "the elements of trespass by airborne pollutants" set forth in *Borland*:

1) an invasion affecting an interest in the exclusive possession of his property; 2) an intentional doing of the act which results in the invasion; 3) reasonable foreseeability that the act done could result in an invasion of plaintiff's possessory interest; and 4) substantial damages to the *res*.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 691 (quoting Borland v. Sanders Lead Co., 369 So.2d 523, 529 (Ala. 1979)). The Borland court had established these elements specifically to

deal with pollution and other formerly "indirect" trespasses. *Id.* The *Bradley* court was even more specific in its adoption of the elements, holding that these would be the elements in Washington law for "trespass by airborne pollutants." *Id.*

The *Bradley* court explained that the element of "actual and substantial damages" was necessary specifically in pollution cases:

While at common law any trespass entitled a landowner to recover nominal or punitive damages for the invasion of his property, such a rule is not appropriate *under the circumstances before us.* No useful purpose would be served by sanctioning actions in trespass by every landowner within a hundred miles of a manufacturing plant.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 691-92 (emphasis added).

The court concluded its careful limitation of its holding when it restated its answers to the certified question:

In conclusion, we answer the certified questions as follows:

- 1. The defendant had the requisite intent to commit intentional trespass.
- 2. An intentional deposit of microscopic particulates, undetectable by the human senses, gives rise to a cause of action for trespass as well as a claim of nuisance.
- 3. A cause of action *under such circumstances* requires proof of actual and substantial damages.

Bradley, 104 Wn.2d at 695 (emphasis added).

Because *Bradley*, by its terms, was limited to claims of trespass by airborne particulate pollution, it does not apply to this case of ordinary trespass, where Hillier, without authority or privilege, commanded Parsons to drive heavy construction traffic over Lavington's driveway. The Court of Appeals correctly decided that Lavington's damages for ordinary trespass are not limited to physical injury to the land. That decision cannot conflict with *Bradley* because *Bradley* only applies to pollution cases, which this is not.

4.1.1.2 Even if Bradley does apply, it does not limit "actual and substantial damages" to only physical damage to land.

Even if *Bradley* does apply in cases of ordinary trespass, the Court of Appeals correctly discerned that the *Bradley* court did not intend to limit "actual and substantial damages" to only physical damage to land. Although the *Bradley* court stated that it adopted the Borland element of "substantial damage to the res," the rest of the Bradley opinion changed the formulation to "actual and substantial damages," without stating that it was limited to physical damage to the land. See **Bradley**, 104 Wn.2d at 692-93. The court explained that the purpose of the "actual and substantial damages" requirement was to disallow nominal damage claims. *Id.* at 691-92. Surely the *Bradley* court, concerned with the "possible poisoning" of pollution, see id. at 681, would not have rejected a claim that involved bodily injury rather than property damage. It is significant that the *Bradley* court never once

Borland, and instead changed it to "actual and substantial damages." *Id.* at 692-93. The Court of Appeals is correct that "damages" is a much broader term than "physical damage". The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *Bradley*. There is no need for this Court to accept review.

4.1.1.3 The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's applicable precedent.

Where *Bradley* does not apply, the question is whether the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's precedent in ordinary trespass cases. Because the answer is "yes," there is no need for this Court to accept review.

Prior to *Bradley*, intentional trespass in

Washington was defined by the common law. This

Court has described it as "an entry on another man's

ground without a lawful authority, and doing some

damage, however inconsiderable, to his real property." Welch v. Seattle & M. R. Co., 56 Wash. 97, 99, 105 P. 166 (1909). A successful plaintiff could recover "money damages for an injury done to his person, property or his rights" by the trespass; the law's regard for a person's property rights was so great that nominal damages were presumed. *Miles v. F. E. R. M. Enterprises, Inc.*, 29 Wn. App. 61, 65, 627 P.2d 564 (1981) (citing *Zimmer v. Stephenson*, 66 Wn.2d 477, 479-80, 403 P.2d 343 (1965)). A trespasser was liable for any specific damage proved to have been caused by his conduct. *Haase v. Helgeson*, 57 Wn.2d 863, 867, 360 P.2d 339 (1961). The common law also recognized a cause of action for "trespass for mesne profits," referring to the value of use and occupation of land, in which a plaintiff could recover the value of the use the trespasser made of the property. *Columbia & P.S.R. Co.* v. Histogenetic Medicine Co., 14 Wash. 475, 479-81, 45 P. 29 (1896).

These early cases are largely consistent with the definitions of trespass given in the Restatement (Second) of Torts. Indeed, this Court expressly adopted Restatement (Second) of Torts § 165, dealing with negligent trespass, in *Zimmer v. Stephenson*, 66 Wn.2d 477, 483, 403 P.2d 343 (1965). The *Zimmer* court also cited favorably to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 158, dealing with intentional trespass. *Zimmer*, 66 Wn.2d at 482. *Bradley*'s reliance on § 158 solidifies the inescapable conclusion that by the time of *Bradley*, Washington's law of intentional trespass followed the Restatement. *See Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 681-82.

The same remained true after *Bradley*. In the relatively recent case of *Brutsche v. City of Kent*, 164 Wn.2d 664, 193 P.3d 110 (2008), the plaintiff sued the city alleging that police officers had exceeded the scope of their lawful entry, resulting in a trespass. This Court cited to *Bradley*, not for the four elements of a pollution trespass, but for the Restatement's formulation of

ordinary trespass. *Brutsche*, 164 Wn.2d at 673-74. The *Brutsche* court then expressly adopted Restatement (Second) of Torts § 214, dealing with trespass by exceeding a privilege to enter land. *Id.* at 674.

Where this Court has consistently relied on the Restatement to define Washington's law of ordinary trespass, the Court of Appeals decision in this case—which relied heavily on the Restatement—is consistent with this Court's precedent. The Court of Appeals decision was correct and does not need to be reviewed. This Court should deny Hillier's petition.

4.1.2 The Court of Appeals Opinion does not conflict with other published opinions of the Court of Appeals.

Hillier argues that the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with *Grundy v. Brack Family Trust*, 151 Wn. App. 557, 213 P.3d 619 (2009). However, the *Grundy* court only applied the four-part *Bradley* test because it found the trespass by splashing sea

water was the type of invasion that *Bradley* was intended to govern:

Wallace cites to *Bradley*, which case seems to imply that this four part test only applies if the intentional trespass was indirect. *See Bradley*, 104 Wash.2d at 691–93, 709 P.2d 782. ...

Even if the four part test applies only to indirect trespass, we hold that any trespass in this case was indirect. Indirect trespass occurs where the trespass would have previously only been actionable as a nuisance. *Bradley*, 104 Wash.2d at 691, 709 P.2d 782. ...

Here, the Bracks did not directly enter Grundy's property nor did they directly cause water to enter Grundy's property. Therefore, any water splashing on Grundy's property from storm or sea wave action against the Bracks' raised bulkhead constituted an indirect invasion and we would apply the Wallace four part test.

Grundy, 151 Wn. App. at 567 n.8. Because Grundy dealt with a pollution-type trespass and not an ordinary trespass, Grundy does not apply here. The Court of Appeals decision in this ordinary trespass case

does not conflict with *Grundy*, a pollution trespass case.

Hillier argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Crystal Lotus Enterprises Ltd. v. City of **Shoreline**, 167 Wn. App. 501, 274 P.3d 1054 (2012). But the Crystal Lotus court only applied the Bradley fourpart test because Crystal Lotus had alleged a continuing trespass, as opposed to a "permanent," or ordinary, trespass. *Crystal Lotus*, 167 Wn. App. at 506. While it is questionable whether the Crystal Lotus court was justified in applying *Bradley* to a case of stormwater infiltration, the fact remains that this is not a continuing trespass case, so *Crystal Lotus* does not apply. Moreover, Crystal Lotus did not deal with the issue of whether "actual and substantial damages" could include damages other than physical damage to land. In *Crystal Lotus*, there was no evidence of *any* kind of damages. **Id.** at 506. Because Crystal Lotus did not hold that physical damage to land was the only

cognizable type of damage, there is no conflict with the Court of Appeals decision here.

Hillier argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Wallace v. Lewis County*, 134 Wn. App. 1, 137 P.3d 101 (2006). But *Wallace*, like *Crystal Lotus*, was a continuing trespass case. *Id.* at 15. Furthermore, the *Wallace* court held that the invading substances—rodents and mosquitoes—were not a trespass at all because they were "transitory" under *Bradley* and therefore could only be a nuisance, not a trespass. *Id.* at 16. Thus, *Wallace* is not authority for the premise that only physical damage to land will suffice.

To the contrary, it appears that the *Wallace* court understood that "actual and substantial damages" are *not limited* to only physical damage to land. In stating that the plaintiffs had failed to show "any actionable damage resulting from intentional continuing trespass," the court observed, "Although the Wallaces contend they suffered personal injury, such as

emotional distress," they only alleged such damages in connection with their nuisance claim, not their trespass claim. *Wallace*, 134 Wn. App. at 17 n.11. The implication of the footnote is that if Wallaces *had* alleged personal injury resulting from trespass, that could have been "actionable damage" under the fourpart test. Far from conflicting, this appears to agree with the Court of Appeals decision here.

Finally, Hillier argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Ofuasia v. Smurr*, 198 Wn. App. 133, 392 P.3d 1148 (2017). But the *Ofuasia* court cited the *Bradley* four-part test without offering any reasoning for why that test was appropriate. *Id.* at 149. The court reversed dismissal of the Ofuasias trespass claim because there was, among other things, evidence of substantial damage through the removal of a fence and multiple trees. *Id.* at 149-50. But the *Ofuasia* court did not say that such physical damage to land was the *only* cognizable type of damage to support the "actual"

and substantial damages" element of the *Bradley* test.

Because the *Ofuasia* court did not address the issue,
there is no conflict with the Court of Appeals decision
here.

Hillier has failed to point to a single prior published decision of the Court of Appeals that has held that physical injury to land is the only type of damage that will satisfy "actual and substantial damages" under the *Bradley* test. The Court of Appeals decision in this case appears to be the first that has addressed that specific question, correctly answering it in the negative. Because there is no conflict, this Court should deny Hillier's petition.

4.1.3 The Court of Appeals Opinion does not implicate substantial public interests.

Hillier's fear of compounding litigation is unfounded. The Court of Appeals decision here maintains *Bradley*'s limitation against nominal damage cases:

The one limitation, as noted above, is that the plaintiff must prove actual and substantial damages. *Bradley*, 104 Wash.2d at 693, 709 P.2d 782. *Therefore, nominal damages generally are not allowed* for an intentional trespass claim. *Id.* at 691-92, 709 P.2d 782.

Lavington, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 153 (emphasis added).The Court of Appeals decision still requiresLavington—or any other plaintiff—to prove "actual and substantial damages":

[T]he trial court erroneously precluded Lavington from presenting evidence regarding her alleged emotional distress and any damages apart from physical injury to her property. Therefore, until Lavington is allowed to present such evidence, it is unknown whether she will be able to show actual and substantial damages.

Lavington, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 154. On remand,
Lavington will still be required to prove actual
damages, whether they be emotional distress, use
value, or physical damage. The Court of Appeals
decision will not enable litigation over "usual,

transitory, and trivial use of the property of another," which would only support nominal damages.

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